THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

**RECEIVED**

**Sep 18 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM Horry COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-000451

Case No. 2019-CP-26-06550

---

Marshall Griffin, ..... Respondent,

v.

Tony Giovino, Carter Tackett, Richard Aquino,  
Bill West, and Shoreham Towers Homeowners Association, ..... Appellants.

---

APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF

---

Henrietta U. Golding, SC Bar No. 2173  
Taylor K. Voegel, SC Bar No. 104770  
Burr & Forman LLP  
2411 Oak Street, Suite 206  
Myrtle Beach, SC 29577

*Counsel for Appellants*

##

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. It was an error of law and unduly prejudicial to permit Respondent to introduce any evidence or make any reference regarding the Temporary Restraining Order.
- II. The question of the roof terrace, tenth-floor elevator lobby, and planters as common elements was a question of law that should not have been submitted to the jury, for the Master Deed identifies those areas as common.
- III. The circuit court erred as a matter of law in denying Appellants' Motions for Directed Verdict and Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict as to Respondent's Breach of Contract claim for no evidence existed that any term in the Master Deed was breached.
- IV. The circuit court erred as a matter of law in denying Appellants' Motions for Directed Verdict Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict as to Respondent's Breach of Contract Accompanied by Fraudulent Act claim for there was no breach of contract, fraudulent act, or fraudulent intent.
- V. The circuit court erred as a matter of law in denying Appellants' Motions for Directed Verdict and Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict as to Respondent's Conversion claim for the Appellants did not deprive the Respondent of owning any property.
- VI. The circuit court erred as a matter of law in denying Appellants' Motions for Directed Verdict and Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict as to Respondent's Civil Conspiracy claim for all Appellants' actions were consistent with the Master Deed, done as directors, and followed advice of professionals.
- VII. The circuit court abused its discretion by granting Respondent's Motion to Amend to include a cause of action for Acquiescence and erred as a matter of law in denying Appellants' Motions for Directed Verdict and Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict as to Respondent's Acquiescence claim for this is not the proper case for such a claim, Respondent cannot use estoppel as a claim, and such a claim, if applied to these facts, would be barred by South Carolina Code Section 27-31-70.
- VIII. The circuit court erred as a matter of law in denying Appellants' Motions for Directed Verdict and Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict as to the individual Appellants' immunity for each acted within their scope as directors.
- IX. The circuit court erred as a matter of law in denying Appellants' Motions for Directed Verdict and Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict as to evidence of actual damages for the Respondent did not suffer any actual damages.
- X. The circuit court erred as a matter of law in denying Appellants' Motions for Directed Verdict and Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict as to evidence of

punitive damages in that punitive damages should not have been submitted to the jury.

- XI. The circuit court erred as a matter of law in denying Appellants' Motions for Directed Verdict and Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict as to not requiring all dwelling unit owners to have been made defendants for common elements are owned by all Shoreham Tower unit owners.
- XII. The circuit court erred as a matter of law in denying Appellants' Motions for Directed Verdict and Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict as to permitting the testimony of Henry Beckham in that he improperly testified as to the value of property not owned by Respondent.
- XIII. The circuit court erred as a matter of law by not listing in its verdict form each cause of action to be submitted to the jury.
- XIV. The circuit court abused its discretion by permitting Respondent and his counsel to refer to the roof terrace as a balcony.

## **INTRODUCTION**

Can a jury, without the approval of all condominium unit owners, limit the use of a common element to only the owner of one condominium unit? That is what happened in this case, and if this jury verdict is permitted to stand, it will mean that juries, instead of the South Carolina Horizontal Property Act and Master Deeds consistent with the Act, will dictate what are common elements.

This case centers around a single unit owner, who, having served as the Appellant Association president for over a decade, and fully knowing the duties and responsibilities of an association's board, disagreed with the Board's conclusion that the roof was a common element. The point of contention is the roof area, identified in the building plans as the "roof terrace" which surrounds Respondent's unit. When advised that this roof area was being used exclusively by Respondent, not as a common element, the Board set out to perform its duties. When the concern was brought, the Board hired and followed the advice of legal counsel; the Board reviewed the Association's governing documents; the Board hired and followed the advice of a safety consultant; the Board hired a surveyor to determine whether this rooftop area was included within the square footage specified in the Master Deed for the rooftop unit; and the Board hired and followed the advice of the roofing contractor.

The Respondent, who never paid assessments to the Association for this rooftop area, who never paid Horry County taxes for this rooftop area, and who never insured this rooftop area, disagreed that the rooftop area was common and sued not only the Association, but also every individual board member in his personal capacity. The verdict was based on the arguments of Respondent's counsel, who, in excess of thirty-five times, referenced and elicited highly prejudicial testimony regarding the Temporary Restraining Order, which improperly influenced

the jury in its findings against Appellants, including its award of punitive damages. For the reasons set forth below, this verdict cannot stand.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Shoreham Towers is a horizontal property regime (“Shoreham”) consisting of forty condominium units with ten levels and is located on Ocean Boulevard in North Myrtle Beach, South Carolina. (R. pp. 1091—1146; R. p. 628, lines 9-10.) The Shoreham Towers Association (“the Association”) is a South Carolina non-profit corporation organized for the purpose of administering and governing Shoreham. Shoreham Towers was constructed in 1982, and the Master Deed (“Master Deed”) was recorded on June 22, 1983. (R. pp. 1091—1146.) The Master Deed has never been amended. (R. p. 343, lines 13-15.) The highest unit, known as the Rooftop Penthouse, is located on the roof of the building. (R. pp. 1091—1146.)

Respondent Marshall Griffin (“Respondent”), along with his wife, are the owners of the Rooftop Penthouse. (R. pp. 1184—1186; R. p. 335, lines 2-6.) However, Respondent’s wife was not a party to the action. (R. pp. 35—41.) On January 21, 1994, Respondent purchased the Penthouse from his uncle’s trust for \$233,500.00. (R. pp. 1184—1186; R. p. 334, lines 3-13.) In his Deed, the property conveyed to the Respondent is classified as a “dwelling.” (R. pp. 1184—1186; R. p. 334, line 22—p. 335, line 6.) The Rooftop Penthouse is surrounded by an area of approximately 2,000 square feet, which is depicted on Shoreham’s building plans as the “Roof Terrace.” (R. pp. 1170—1183; R. p. 778, line 25—p. 779, line 4.) Access to the Shoreham roof is by two stairwells—which Respondent conceded are common elements. (R. p. 378, lines 13-18.) Located in the middle of the roof is Respondent’s unit, and on the sides of the roof are HVAC units for all dwellings. (R. pp. 1170—1183; R. p. 1220; R. p. 256, lines 2-5; R. p. 776, lines 14-19.) Planters are also located around the edge of the roof, which have been the subject of controversy for many years. (R. p. 255, lines 8-16; R. p. 785, line 4—p. 786, line 3.) For instance,

in 1997, the Association's Board of Directors ("the Board") voted to cement over the planters because the membranes were leaking and causing leaks in the building. (R. p. 274, lines 13-24; R. p. 669, line 13—p. 670, line 5.) In response, Respondent initiated a lawsuit against the Association, asserting the planters were common and were required to have plants per the Building Plans; as a result of that litigation, the Association reached an agreement with Respondent that the planters would not be cemented over, but Respondent would be responsible for the plants and the Association for the planters. (R. p. 274, line 25—p. 275, line 23; R. pp. 1187—1194.)

Since the construction of Shoreham, the Association has maintained the roof with the last major repair being in the spring 2019 when a new roof coating was installed at a cost in excess of \$100,000.00. (R. p. 359, lines 18-21; R. p. 360, lines 14-19; R. p. 634, lines 10-12.) In the Board's January 19, 2019 meeting, each Board member, including Respondent, voted to approve Thompson Roofing, Inc.'s revised proposal for repairing the roof membrane. (R. p. 653, lines 10-15.) At the same meeting, the Board also unanimously voted to approve a special assessment to the unit owners to obtain \$75,000.00 for partial funding the roof project. (R. p. 652, line 11—p. 654, line 23.) During this roof repair, the roofing contractor removed turtle tile, which, years before, the Respondent had installed on top of the roof membrane, which he installed without approval from the Board. (R. p. 361, lines 19-21; R. p. 362, lines 3-5.) The roofing contractor advised that the turtle tile not be placed back on the roof due to the fact that it gathered debris, clogged drains, and could negate the roof membrane warranty. (R. p. 730, line 6—p. 731, line 6; R. p. 732, line 18—p. 733, line 10; R. p. 735, lines 10-18; R. p. 740, lines 15-22; R. p. 1201.) Based on the advice of the roofing contractor, the turtle tile was not returned to the roof; rather it was delivered to the roofing contractor's business location where it remained for over four years. (R. p. 735, lines 10-18; R. p. 738, line 24—p. 739, line 8.) Many times, Respondent was asked to

pick up the turtle tile. (R. p. 739, lines 7-11; R. p. 741, lines 2-7.) Respondent never picked up the turtle tile but instead sued, seeking approximately \$20,000.00 for the loss of the tile. (R. p. 739, lines 7-8; R. p. 268, lines 8-10.)

While president of the Board, Respondent converted the tenth-floor elevator lobby area, designated in the Master Deed as a common element, to his private foyer to make it more “aesthetically pleasing” to Respondent’s renters. (R. p. 349, line 11—p. 350, line 1; R. p. 350, lines 18-21.) Respondent never obtained permission for this construction. (R. p. 350, lines 7-17.) Respondent posted signs within the stairwells restricting access to the tenth floor, which he also did without the permission of the Board. (R. p. 257, lines 16-22; R. p. 258, lines 8-10; R. p. 378, line 19—p. 379, line 2.)

Respondent’s primary use of his Penthouse is for vacation rental. (R. p. 250, lines 7-9.) Prior to 2018, Respondent placed outside furniture, similar to pool-type lounge furniture, on the roof. (R. p. 377, lines 1-9.) In 2018, Respondent replaced the low-back chairs with high-back chairs and a high-top table without the approval of the Board. (R. p. 377, lines 10-12, 22-24; R. p. 378, lines 4-6.) Subsequently, his renters often positioned the high-back chairs and table next to the roof’s edge, and renters occasionally sat on the roof parapet. (R. p. 377, line 25—p. 378, line 12; R. pp. 1211—1219.)

On October 1, 2018, Appellant Richard Aquino expressed concerns regarding Respondent’s exclusive use of the roof.<sup>1</sup> (R. pp. 1150—1155.) In response to Mr. Aquino’s

---

<sup>1</sup> At the time Mr. Aquino sent this initial email, he was not a member of the Board. (R. p. 385, lines 9-10.) The individual Appellants, Tony Giovino, Bill West, Richard Aquino, and Carter Tackett, along with Respondent, served as board members of the Association’s Board of Directors in 2019. Respondent testified he served as a Board member for approximately fifteen or sixteen years. (R. p. 270, lines 15-17.) During that time, he served as the President from approximately 2004 to 2016. (R. p. 350, lines 22-24.)

inquiries that the roof terrace was a common element, the Board subsequently asked Respondent to respond to the items set forth in Mr. Aquino's email, which Respondent never did. (R. p. 385, line 25—p. 386, line 10; R. p. 649, line 18—p. 650, line 2.) Sometime in early 2019, the Board, at Respondent's request, met with Respondent to view his unit while the Board attempted to determine whether the roof terrace was common. (R. p. 818, line 19—p. 819, line 11.) Following that tour, the Board concluded the area was likely a common element, and Respondent told the Board he was "going to lawyer up." (R. p. 819, lines 12-21.)

The Board, during at a meeting at which Respondent was present, also passed a motion for Mr. Tackett, a Board member, to retain legal counsel. (R. p. 651, lines 3-25.) The Board hired Roger Roy, a real estate attorney practicing in Myrtle Beach, to provide legal guidance. (R. p. 647, line 13—p. 648, line 6.) Significantly, both Mr. Aquino and Respondent abstained from the Board discussion regarding the legal advice it received as well as the voting on matters relating to the roof terrace. (R. p. 651, lines 17-25.)

Mr. Roy provided his legal opinion as to whether the roof terrace was a common element in the spring of 2019. (R. p. 655, line 20—p. 656, line 9.) Specifically, by letter dated March 19, 2019 to the Mr. Tackett, Mr. Roy expressed concern about the roof terrace becoming a liability to the Association, and Mr. Roy encouraged the Board to create rules and regulations for that area. (R. pp. 1195—1196.) Sometime thereafter, the Board held a telephone conference with Mr. Roy to discuss proposed rules and regulations for the roof terrace, and upon conferring with Mr. Roy, the Board asked Respondent to not join the call. (R. p. 294, lines 3-14.) Then in May 2019, the Board met to discuss rules and regulations for the roof terrace. (R. p. 655, lines 5-10.) Specifically, Bill West, Carter Tackett, and Tony Giovino met, without the participation of Mr. Aquino or Respondent, to draft rules with the "guidance and okay of Roger Roy." (R. p. 655, lines 13-17; R.

p. 665, lines 9-22.) These board members asked Mr. Roy to approve the draft rules, and upon receiving approval, the Board implemented rules and regulations (“the Rules”) for the roof terrace. (R. p. 657, lines 9-15; R. pp. 1223—1228.)<sup>2</sup> Initially, Respondent, through his attorney by letter dated May 31, 2019, proposed alternative rules that stated the roof terrace was to be exclusively used by Respondent or his guests. (R. pp. 1198—1200.) The Association did not accept those proposed rules. (R. p. 1223—1228.) As a result of the Rules’ passage, Respondent filed suit against the Association and his other fellow board members on October 14, 2019, alleging causes of action for breach of contract, breach of contract accompanied by fraudulent act, unjust enrichment/quantum meruit, conversion, and civil conspiracy. (R. pp. 35—41.)

Due to the Board’s concerns about liability in a common area, in December 2019, the Board hired a safety consultant. (R. p. 671, line 24—p. 672, line 16; R. pp. 1158—1160.) The consultant issued an opinion that the high-back chairs were a hazard and all roof furnishing should be kept away from the rooftop edges. (R. p. 672, line 17—p. 673, line 7; R. pp. 1158—1160.) As a result, the Board asked Respondent to move the high-back chairs more than once, but Respondent did not do so. (R. p. 674, lines 11-16; R. p. 675, lines 3-7.) Subsequently, the Board replaced the Respondent’s high-back furnishings on the roof with furnishings similar to those used for the ground floor pool. (R. p. 380, lines 7-16.) In January 2020, Respondent filed a motion for a temporary restraining order, which the circuit court subsequently denied due to Respondent’s failure to support the motion by affidavit or verified complaint. (R. pp. 45—60; R. pp. 7—9.) In June 2020, Respondent again filed a motion for a temporary restraining order seeking the same

---

<sup>2</sup> The Master Deed provides that the “ASSOCIATION shall have . . . the authority and power to enforce the provisions of this Master Deed . . . and to adopt, promulgate and enforce such rules and regulations governing the use of the DWELLINGS and COMMON ELEMENTS, as the Board of Directors of the ASSOCIATION may deem to be in the best interests of the CONDOMINIUM.” (R. p. 1098.)

relief. (R. pp. 61—137.) The circuit court issued a temporary injunction, requiring the Appellants to return the Respondent’s high-back furnishings to the roof and providing Respondent exclusive use of the roof terrace during the litigation. (R. pp. 13—19.)

### **THE MASTER DEED**

The Shoreham Master Deed sets out that there are two components to the regime: Dwellings and Common Elements. (R. p. 1095.) It provides that Common Elements are all of the real property, improvements and facilities, other than the Dwellings, and it further incorporates, by direct reference, the definitions set forth in South Carolina’s Horizontal Property Act. (R. pp. 1095, 1117.) The Master Deed states that common elements are subject to a “perpetual non-exclusive easement in favor of all the owners of dwellings in the condominium for their use and the use of their immediate families, guests, and invitees...” (R. p. 1096.) In other words, all forty unit owners of Shoreham Towers possess an undivided ownership interest in all of the common areas within the regime. (R. p. 353, lines 15-22.) As Respondent conceded, the Master Deed does not create any right of privacy in common elements. (R. p. 353, lines 4-14.) Respondent’s Deed to his Shoreham unit states that Respondent and his wife were deeded a “Dwelling” and that they own an undivided interest in the common elements. (R. pp. 1184—1186.) Specifically, Respondent’s “Dwelling” consists of 2,630 square feet. (R. p. 355, lines 2-5; R. pp. 1184—1186.)

The property description in the Master Deed, identified as Exhibit A, states that the forty dwellings are all located in a single building consisting of nine habitable floors, with floor two being the first habitable floor. (R. pp. 1120—1121.) Exhibit A further states that one dwelling having a designation as “rooftop penthouse” is on the tenth floor. (R. p. 1120.) As to the unit’s size, the Master Deed, in Exhibit A, provides, “[T]he ‘Rooftop Penthouse’ dwelling on the 10th floor contains approximately 2,630 sq. feet.” (R. p. 1120.)

In the fourth paragraph in Exhibit A, the first sentence states:

Access to all floors is provided by both stairways and elevators. . . . [A]ccess to the single ‘rooftop penthouse’ dwelling on the 10th floor is provided from an elevator lobby *which is a common area* and stairways to the rooftop area, *which is also common*. The rooftop area contains planters which are common.

(R. p. 1120 (emphasis added).) At trial, Respondent took the position that the roof terrace is a balcony. (R. p. 339, lines 9-14.) He relied on this interpretation by pointing to the language in the second to last paragraph in Exhibit A to the Master Deed, which states that “all balconies adjacent to each dwelling, including the railing attached thereto, are part of that dwelling and not common areas . . . .” (R. p. 1121.) However, the recorded building plans (“Building Plans”), which are incorporated by reference in Exhibit A of the Master Deed, identifies thirty-nine dwellings as having balconies. (R. p. 1120; R. pp. 1170—1183.) There is nothing in the Master Deed, including Exhibit A, that states the rooftop terrace is a balcony nor is there anything that designates the rooftop unit as having a balcony. Moreover, the Master Deed does not provide that the roof terrace or tenth-floor elevator lobby may be used solely by occupants of the Rooftop Penthouse. (R. p. 374, lines 9-19.)

As to the tenth-floor elevator lobby, a common element which Respondent converted for his own use, the language in the Master Deed identifies the elevator lobby as a common area, as do the recorded Building Plans. (R. pp. 1170—1183; R. p. 1120.) Respondent testified that he was unsure whether the elevator lobby he converted into a private foyer was included in his 2,630 square feet of his dwelling, although the Building Plans show the lobby as not being part of the Penthouse foyer. (R. p. 346, lines 3-19; R. pp. 1170—1183.) In addition to converting the elevator lobby to his private use, Respondent also had a privacy key to this elevator so that only the occupants of the tenth floor can use this elevator to access the tenth floor. (R. p. 319 lines 5-8; R.

p. 349, line 11—p. 350, line 6.) However, Respondent later testified on direct and cross-examination that the following areas are common or are otherwise not exclusively owned by him:

- The roof (R. p. 359, lines 10-12; R. p. 371, lines 13-17);
- The portion of the roof where the HVAC units are located (R. p. 367, lines 7-14);
- The planters (R. p. 275, line 24—p. 276, line 1; R. p. 329, lines 12-14; R. p. 368, lines 12-17; R. p. 371, lines 10-12);
- The roof and planter walls (R. p. 376, lines 15-17); and
- The two stairwells that lead to the tenth floor (R. p. 378, lines 13-18).

### **TRIAL**

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