IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2023-000451  
Circuit Court Case No. 2019-CP-26-06550

---

Marshall Griffin, .....Respondent,

v.

Tony Giovino, Carter Tackett, Richard Aquino,  
Bill West, and Shoreham Towers Homeowners Association,..... Appellants.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

John M. Grantland, Esquire  
S.C. Bar No. 64158  
Crawford A. Krebs, Esquire  
S.C. Bar No. 105797  
Murphy & Grantland, P.A.  
P.O. Box 6648  
Columbia, SC 29260  
(803) 782-4100

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

Relying on the standard laid out in *Harper* and solidified in *Perry*, Respondent demonstrated that the Association acted fraudulently by breaching the Master Deed. As shown above, Appellants breached both express provisions of the Master Deed and the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. This breach was accompanied by numerous fraudulent acts, which fell under each category of fraud outlined in *Perry*—despite Respondent only needing to show one.

First, Appellants made material misrepresentations and false accusations regarding Respondent and actions undertaken by him. Specifically, Appellants accused Respondent of not paying his fair share, changing access to the elevator, and creating a nuisance through his furniture. (R. p. 331, lines 19-22). The association relied on statements made by Mr. Aquino which were proven to be false and dishonest in fact. Notably, Mr. Aquino and Respondent had a personal history prior to this incident, which should have served to warn Appellants that caution was necessary in taking his statements as truth. (R. p. 283, line 22-p. 284, line 11). Instead, they acted upon the false information provided—without first verifying its accuracy.

The Association was aware that Respondent had endeavored to maintain the rooftop and had even covered the cost of electricity and other necessities. He had paid his assessment using the same formula that had been in place since Shoreham towers was created. To claim that

Respondent was not paying his fair share when he simply wanted to enjoy his balcony in the same way every other owner in the building did was dishonest in fact. Respondent undertook substantial cost to maintain and improve the terrace.

Second, the Association engaged in unfair dealing. Along with the actions described above, they brought in a safety inspector who only looked at the top floor of the building. (R. pp. 1158-60). No other balcony was examined. Appellants only brought in the safety inspector in an attempt to gain leverage over Respondent to strip him of his rights over the terrace. Mr. Aquino personally harassed and interfered with Respondent's renters on the terrace. (R. p. 316, line 6-p. 317, line 11.). Appellants placed caution tape around the railing, which they notably did for no other balcony in the building. Appellants even admitted that Respondent was a "target." (R. p. 831, lines 7-13). Appellants singled Respondent out and targeted him with rules, regulations, inspections, threats, and removal of his property.

Finally, Appellants sought to misappropriate Respondent's property. In *Perry*, the fraudulent act was the party acting "covertly" to prevent ownership of the horse which was the premise of the sale. *Perry*, at 254, 437 S.E.2d at 152. Similarly, Appellants operated covertly either without Respondent's knowledge or explicitly excluding him to deprive Griffin of his property, both personal and real. They also created rules to deprive him of his rights. They removed his furniture while he wasn't present and refused to return it. Consequently, Appellants endeavored to exclude Respondent both from claiming his property rights regarding the terrace and preventing him from being able to fully access and enjoy the area. As shown by the evidence at trial, Appellants breached the Master Deed and coupled their breach with several fraudulent acts. The evidence supported the finding the jury reached as to this cause of action.

**V. The Circuit Court Properly Denied Appellant's Motion for Directed Verdict and Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict as to Respondent's Conversion Claim.**

A cause of action for conversion requires either a wrongful taking or detention. *Regions Bank v. Schmauch*, 354 S.C. 648, 667, 582 S.E.2d 432, 442 (Ct. App. 2003). Conversion can occur through an “illegal use or misuse, or by illegal detention of another’s personal property.” *Id.* (citing *Owens v. Andrews Bank & Trust Co.*, 265 S.C. 490, 496, 220 S.E.2d 116, 119 (1975); *Castell v. Stephenson Fin. Co.*, 244 S.C. 45, 50-51, 135 S.E.2d 311, 313 (1964)).

Respondent’s property was converted both through a wrongful taking and a wrongful detention. Throughout the trial, Respondent presented ample evidence demonstrating that his turtle tile and furniture were improperly detained by Appellants. Contrary to the statements made by Appellants, they did seek to charge Respondent for the cost of storage. (R. p. 1165). After improperly taking his property and moving it to a storage facility, Appellants then threatened to forfeit his property to the storage facility if Respondent did not pay fees to the HOA. Prior case law of this State clearly demonstrates that property that has been improperly taken must be returned when a demand is made or that taking will constitute conversion. *Oxford Finance Companies, Inc. v. Burgess*, 303 S.C. 534, 539, 402 S.E.2d 480, 482 (1991) (citing *Castell v. Stephenson Fin. Co.*, 244 S.C. 45, 50-51, 135 S.E.2d 311, 313 (1964)). Here, Respondent took back his furniture after Appellants took it, but was unable to retrieve his turtle tile. This action is a clear demand for the return of his property. When Appellants again removed Griffin’s property, he was forced to obtain a Temporary Restraining Order to have his property restored. If the taking back of his furniture was not enough to inform the Appellants that he demanded the return of his property, the TRO left no room for doubt. Therefore, Respondent’s property was unlawfully detained, and it was not an abuse of discretion to uphold the jury verdict as to this claim.

Furthermore, Appellants converted Respondent’s property through a wrongful taking. To establish that a wrongful taking occurred, it must be demonstrated that the converting party

exercised some right of ownership over the property. *Owens*, at 496, 220 S.E.2d at 119. Appellants argue they exercised no rights of ownership over Respondent's personal property; however, the facts indicate otherwise. Appellants went onto the terrace multiple times to obtain Respondent's furniture and turtle tile. These actions alone are enough to support a cause of action for conversion. By going back and taking his property a second time, Appellants' actions cement the fact that they exercised control over Respondent's property, sufficient to warrant a finding of conversion.

**VI. The Circuit Court Properly Denied Appellant's Motion for Directed Verdict and Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict as to Respondent's Civil Conspiracy Claim.**

A plaintiff seeking to demonstrate a cause of action for civil conspiracy must show: "(1) the combination or agreement of two or more persons, (2) to commit an unlawful act or a lawful act by unlawful means, (3) together with the commission of an overt act in furtherance of the agreement, and (4) damages proximately resulting to the plaintiff." *Paradis v. Charleston County School District*, 433 S.C. 562, 574, 861 S.E.2d 774, 780 (2021) (citing *Charles v. Texas Co.*, 199 S.C. 156, 176, 18 S.E.2d 719, 727 (1942)). Civil conspiracy is usually demonstrated through circumstantial evidence as the nature of civil conspiracy tends to be more secretive. *Robertson v. First Union Nat'l Bank*, 350 S.C. 339, 348-499, 565 S.E.2d 309, 314 (Ct. App. 2002). A corporation can be a party to a conspiracy where the individuals are acting in regard to their own personal interests. *McMillan v. Oconee Memorial Hospital, Inc.*, 367 S.C. 559, 564-65, 626 S.E.2d 884, 887 (2006) (overruled by *Paradis* on other grounds). A conspiracy may exist when employees are acting outside the scope of their employment. *Id.* at 565, 626 S.E.2d at 887. When parties have a personal stake in the matter they are conspiring about, the intracorporate conspiracy doctrine is inapplicable. *Cricket Cove Ventures, LLC. V. Gilland*, 390 S.C. 312, 326, 701 S.E.2d 39, 47 (Ct. App. 2010).

Appellants conspired together to deprive Respondent of property and took overt steps to do so. Appellants contend that the individuals were acting within the scope of their duties as board members. However, the board members each had a personal interest in having the terrace converted to common property. Moreover, these individuals met behind Respondent's back, engaged in unfair dealing, and acted willfully and wantonly. Since Respondent was a board member as well, these meetings were inherently outside the scope of the board since the full board was not assembled. Further, each individual had a personal stake in the matter as they all lived in the building and would enjoy being able to use Griffin's terrace as a common element. Respondent's loss would be their gain. Appellants' convenient and recent discovery of the terrace as a common area allowed them access to a highly appealing area for their own personal benefit and stopped Respondent from using the area in the way that he had previously. Additionally, Mr. Aquino admitted to believing Respondent's use of his Penthouse to be a nuisance, and a personal history existed between the two. Thus, they had a personal interest in the matter, and the intercorporate conspiracy doctrine does not apply to the facts at hand.

Appellants actively sought to exclude Respondent from discussions as a means to deprive him of his property. There were phone calls and meetings that occurred without Respondent present even though he was an active member of the board. Appellants claim that they consulted an attorney prior to these decisions; however, Appellants have not stated what advice they were given or whether they chose to follow it. Additionally, Appellants' own witness, Roger Roy—who provided the legal advice they use as a shield—admitted that they acted outside the scope of his advice:

Q: But you didn't tell them to remove the furniture?

A: No.

Q: The board did that on their own?

A: Correct.

(R. p. 769, lines 17-20). Appellants' own witness further admitted that Appellants were difficult to deal with and that he pushed them to meet with Respondent to no avail:

Q: And do you recall me asking you more than once if Marshall can meet with the board to resolve our issues?

A: Yes.

Q: And the board never wanted to meet with Marshall?

A: That's correct.

Q: Even after the board came up with rules and regulations, and Marshall wanted to meet, they did not want to talk to Marshall, did they?

A: That's correct.

Q: And you and I didn't meet, did we?

A: Just phone conversations and e-mail.

Q: You even said there was one board member who was hard to deal with on this matter, didn't you?

A: Correct.

Q: Who was that?

A: Mr. Aquino.

Q: You also said you couldn't get them to budge about having a meeting?

A: That's correct.

(R. p. 765, lines 7-25).

Furthermore, Appellants argue they were merely following legal advice, while the facts indicate that they selectively decided what information to provide to the attorney to their advantage:

Q: Did the board tell you that he was paying maintenance on the terrace for the last 20 years?

A: No.

Q: Were you aware he was paying landscaping cost for the planters for over 20 years?

A: No.

Q: The board didn't tell you that either?

A: No.

(R. p. 768, lines 4-11). Appellants created new rules for the rooftop terrace without Respondents consent and claim that it was based on legal advice. Even if that were true, that legal advice was shown to have been obtained through selective and unfair representations made to Appellants'

attorney. The rules were unduly restrictive on Respondent and anyone he may have allowed to rent the rooftop penthouse. Therefore, the individuals of the Board, excluding Respondent, acted together to bring about the deprivation of Respondent's property. They made material misrepresentations regarding his actions and the rights he possessed regarding the rooftop. They passed new rules and restrictions which breached the Master Deed that all parties were bound by. Appellants took numerous overt acts in furtherance of the conspiracy such as obtaining an attorney but only providing him selective information, passing rules to control the use of Griffin's property, removing his property, hiring a safety inspector for only the terrace, and treating the terrace as a "common element."

Even if Appellants were meeting lawfully, civil conspiracy can occur through a lawful act, but unlawful means. The record shows Appellants singled out Respondent to deprive him both of his real and personal property. Regardless of the legality of their meetings, the means through which they acted were unlawful, thereby satisfying the second element required for civil conspiracy.

Finally, the Respondent was damaged by the conspiracy. Respondent's only current job is to rent out his rooftop penthouse. This means that the revenue he receives, and the perceived value of the penthouse, is integral to his well-being. By treating the terrace as a common element, Appellants greatly diminished the value of the rooftop penthouse. The rooftop terrace was a major selling point for the penthouse as it was uniquely its own in this area. Guests had already begun to send him messages that they would not or would be less inclined to stay in the future because of the lack of privacy and inability to fully use the terrace. (R. pp. 1161-64). Respondent stated in trial that if the rules and regulations were to remain in effect, his rentals "would be non-existent" and he would "go out of business." (R. p. 331, lines 12-14). Hence, Respondent suffered both a

loss in value and a loss in future earnings, both of which are sufficient for the damages claim. In summation, Respondent presented sufficient evidence of each element of his civil conspiracy claim.

**VII. The Circuit Court did not Abuse its Discretion by Permitting Respondent's Amendment of the Complaint.**

Appellants repeatedly claim that it was improper for Plaintiff to amend his Complaint near trial. However, this is explicitly provided for in the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. Rule 15(b) allows for the amendment of pleadings to conform to the evidence and provides:

Such amendment of the pleadings as may be necessary to cause them to conform to the evidence and to raise these issues may be made upon motion of any party **at any time, even after judgment**; but failure so to amend does not affect the result of the trial of these issues. If evidence is objected to at the trial on the ground that it is not within the issues made by the pleadings, the court may allow the pleadings to be amended and shall do so freely when the presentation of the merits of the action will be subserved thereby and the objecting party fails to satisfy the court that the admission of such evidence would prejudice him in maintaining his action or defense upon the merits.

Rule 15(b), SCRPC (emphasis added). This amendment falls directly under this rule. The evidence presented during the discovery process and at trial raised the issue of acquiescence. Appellants argue that the doctrine of acquiescence is *typically* applied to boundary disputes but present no law that prevents the doctrine from being applied in any property dispute. Appellants also admit that the doctrine is substantially similar to the doctrine of adverse possession, which is not solely limited to boundary disputes.

As shown above, Appellants, Respondent, and all members of the boards that came before them treated the terrace as belonging to Respondent. Minutes from board meetings expressly state that the area should be treated as a balcony. These facts give rise to an acquiescence claim, and the Court properly allowed Respondent to assert such a claim.

Appellants argue that an acquiescence claim would be barred by South Carolina Code § 27-31-70. However, that statute applies to partition or division, not to claims of adverse possession or acquiescence. Moreover, Appellants base their argument on a hypothetical admission that the terrace is a common element; however, Respondent's position has always been that the area was not common, and the jury found the same. Therefore, this argument is moot.

**VIII. The Circuit Court Properly Denied Appellant's Motion for Directed Verdict and Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict as to the Individual Defendants' Immunity.**

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